## **RECEIVED**

12-27-2016

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

### STATE OF WISCONSIN IN SUPREME COURT Appeal No. 2015AP000993 - CR

\_\_\_\_\_

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

HEATHER L. STEINHARDT,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

On Review of a Decision of the Court of Appeals,
District II, Affirming a Judgment of Conviction and
an Order Denying the Postconviction Motion,
Entered in Ozaukee County Circuit Court,
the Honorable Sandy Williams, Presiding

\_\_\_\_\_

## BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT-PETITIONER

\_\_\_\_\_

NICOLE M. MASNICA Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1079819

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

1. Was Ms. Steinhardt's constitutional right to be free from double jeopardy violated when she was convicted of failure to act and first-degree sexual assault of a child as party to a crime, pursuant to Wis. Stat. §§ 948.02(3) and 948.02(1)(e)?

The circuit court ruled that Ms. Steinhardt's convictions for failure to act and first-degree sexual assault of a child did not violate double jeopardy.

The court of appeals did not rule on this issue, instead concluding that the claim of double jeopardy could not be resolved by a review of the record before the court and therefore, Ms. Steinhardt waived her right to direct review of her double jeopardy claim by entering no contest pleas to both charges.

2. Did Ms. Steinhardt waive her right to raise the double jeopardy claim by pleading no contest to the charges?

The circuit court did not address this issue because it held that the convictions did not violate double jeopardy.

The court of appeals held that Ms. Steinhardt waived her right to raise the double jeopardy issue by entering no contest pleas to both charges.

3. Did Ms. Steinhardt's postconviction motion sufficiently allege trial counsel was ineffective for failing to advise her of the double jeopardy issue and that the deficiency caused her prejudice, such that she was entitled to a hearing on the issue?

The circuit court did not address this question because it held that the convictions did not violate double jeopardy.

The court of appeals held that Ms. Steinhardt's postconviction motion was insufficient to entitle her to a hearing.

# STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

By granting review, this Court has deemed this case appropriate for both oral argument and publication.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On April 1, 2013, Walter Steinhardt ("Walter") sexually assaulted F.G. in the presence of his wife, Heather Steinhardt. At the time of the assault, F.G., the daughter of Ms. Steinhardt and the stepdaughter of Walter, was twelve years old. (1:1).

According to Ms. Steinhardt, Walter was a heavy drinker and abusive to her throughout the course of their marriage. (29:8). On April 1, 2013, Walter demanded a sexual encounter with F.G., and Ms. Steinhardt submitted to his demands. Ms. Steinhardt brought F.G. into the bedroom she and Walter shared. (1:2). While Ms. Steinhardt sat on the bed, Walter told F.G. to get undressed and proceeded to sexually assault F.G., digitally penetrating her, having her engage in oral sex with him, and engaging in penis to vagina sexual intercourse with her. (1:2). Afterward, Ms. Steinhardt followed F.G. into the bathroom where F.G. took a shower. (1:2).

Two months later, F.G. disclosed the details of the assault to a family member who contacted authorities on her behalf. (29:2). There were no other allegations of assault.

The State initially charged Ms. Steinhardt with failure to act and first-degree sexual assault of a child as party to a crime, but after Ms. Steinhardt waived her preliminary hearing, an information was filed that added a third count of child enticement, pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 948.07. (1; 9) (App. 175-177).

On May 13, 2014, the circuit court accepted Ms. Steinhardt's no contest pleas to all three counts as alleged in the information. (66:10). There were no amendments and no read-in offenses. During the hearing, the court relied upon the facts in the criminal complaint as a basis for the findings of guilt, without objection from either party. (66:11). There was no request from the State to supplement the factual record orally at the plea hearing.

On June 19, 2014, the court sentenced Ms. Steinhardt to prison terms totaling 37.5 years, 22.5 years initial incarceration (IC) followed by 15 years extended supervision (ES), broken down as follows:

Count 1, failure to act: 12.5 years imprisonment (7.5 years IC, 5 years ES);

Count 2, first-degree sexual assault as party to a crime: 25 years imprisonment (15 years IC, 10 years ES), consecutive to Count 1; and

Count 3, child enticement: 25 years imprisonment (15 years IC, 10 years ES), concurrent to Count 2, but consecutive to Count 1.

(67:42-43).

Ms. Steinhardt subsequently filed a postconviction motion, raising two claims. (44). First, she alleged that her convictions on Counts 1 and 2 were multiplicitous and violated double jeopardy protections. (44:2). Second, she alleged ineffective assistance of counsel based on her trial attorney's failure to advise her of this double jeopardy violation prior to her plea to all charges. (44:7). Ms. Steinhardt alleged that, had she known about the viable double jeopardy claim, she would not have pled no contest to both Counts 1 and 2. As a result, she asked the circuit court to vacate the failure to act conviction and sentence because this was the less-serious of the two counts.

The circuit court held a hearing on the postconviction motion. On the day of the hearing, the defense was prepared to present testimony from both trial counsel and Ms. Steinhardt. Prior to the testimony, however, the court concluded that Counts 1 and 2 were not multiplicitous and that therefore, testimony was unnecessary. (51; 68:28) (App. 175, App. 177). The court accepted an offer of proof that Ms. Steinhardt's trial attorney had not recognized the multiplicity issue and, therefore, had no strategic reason for failing to advise her about that issue or failing to object on that ground. (68:30). The offer of proof also set forth that Ms. Steinhardt planned to testify that she would not have pled to the charges if she had known there was a double jeopardy claim. (68:30). The State made no objection to the offers of proof, stating, "I think that sounds fair." (68:30).

Ms. Steinhardt appealed. The court of appeals affirmed the circuit court ruling in a per curiam decision issued January 21, 2016. (App. 101-106). In its decision, the court first held that Ms. Steinhardt's double jeopardy claim could not be resolved solely on the record and therefore, by entering no contest pleas to both charges, she "relinquished"

the right to direct review of her double jeopardy claim." (Slip op. at ¶8, citing *State v. Kelty*, 2006 WI 101, 294 Wis. 2d 62, 716 N.W.2d 886). Second, as to the claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, the court held that Ms. Steinhardt's postconviction motion failed to sufficiently allege prejudice and that therefore, she was not entitled to an evidentiary hearing. (Slip op. at ¶¶11-12, citing *State v. Bentley*, 201 Wis. 2d 303, 313-18, 548 N.W.2d 50 (1996)). Ms. Steinhardt petitioned for review of the court of appeals holding. This court granted the petition.

#### ARGUMENT

I. Ms. Steinhardt's Convictions For Failure To Act And First-Degree Sexual Assault Of A Child Are Multiplicitous, Because Counts 1 And 2 Are Identical In Both Law And Fact. In the Alternative, By Enacting Wis. Stat. § 939.66(2p), the Legislature Intended To Prohibit Simultaneous Convictions For § 948.02 Offenses When the Conduct Is Identical In Fact And Therefore, Counts 1 And 2 Are Multiplicitous.

#### A. Introduction and standard of review

Both the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article 1, sec. 8 of the Wisconsin Constitution protect an individual from twice being placed in jeopardy for a single offense. Long-standing case law has established that this protection includes a prohibition against subjecting a defendant to multiple punishments for the same State v. Sauceda, 168 Wis. 2d 486, 492, 485 offense. N.W.2d 1 (1992); State v. Grayson, 172 Wis. 2d 156, 159, 493 N.W.2d 23 (1992)(Multiple convictions and punishments arising from a single criminal act "are impermissible because they violate the double jeopardy provisions of the Wisconsin and United States Constitutions.").

The Wisconsin legislature has also adopted a statutory scheme intended to prevent simultaneous convictions for multiple counts of certain offenses, including violations of Wis. Stat. § 948.02. Wis. Stat. § 939.66(2p). Wis. Stat. § 939.66(2p) specifically prohibits numerous and simultaneous convictions for violations of Wis. Stat. § 948.02. Section 948.02 criminalizes all types of sexual assault against children ages 16 and under, outlining the penalty structure for offenses by age of the victim and sexual act performed. This section also criminalizes failure to act<sup>2</sup> to prevent any child sexual assault outlined in that section.

. . . .

(2p) A crime which is a less serious or equally serious type of violation under s. 948.02 than the one charged.

(1) FIRST DEGREE SEXUAL ASSAULT.

. .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> **939.66.** Conviction of included crime permitted. Upon prosecution for a crime, the actor may be convicted of *either the crime charged or an included crime, but not both*. An included crime may be any of the following:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The relevant sections of Wis. Stat. § 948.02 provide:

<sup>(</sup>e) Whoever has sexual contact or sexual intercourse with a person who has not attained the age of 13 years is guilty of a Class B felony.

<sup>(3)</sup> FAILURE TO ACT. A person responsible for the welfare of a child who has not attained the age of 16 years is guilty of a Class F felony if that person has knowledge that another person intends to have, is having or has had sexual intercourse or sexual contact with the child, is physically and emotionally capable of taking action which will prevent the intercourse or contact from taking place or being repeated, fails to take that action and the failure to act exposes the child to an (continued)

When assessing double jeopardy claims, Wisconsin courts have traditionally utilized a two-prong test: (1) whether the charged offenses are identical in law and fact; and (2) if the offenses are not identical in law and fact, whether the legislature intended the multiple offenses to be brought as a single count. *State v. Anderson*, 219 Wis. 2d 739, 746, 580 N.W.2d 329, 333 (1998).

Whether simultaneous convictions for multiple offenses violate a defendant's double jeopardy rights under the Wisconsin and U.S. Constitution is a question of law, and therefore, the standard of review is de novo. This Court need not give any deference to the holdings of the lower courts on this issue. *Sauceda*, 168 Wis. 2d at 492.

- B. Applying the two-prong test set forth in *Anderson*, Counts 1 and 2 are multiplications and convictions for both violate double jeopardy protections
  - 1. Prong One: Counts 1 and 2 are identical in law and fact.
    - a. The offenses are identical in law.

The first component of the two-prong analysis in double jeopardy cases involves the application of the *Blockburger*<sup>3</sup> elements-only test. According to *Blockburger*, an offense is a lesser-included offense if all of its statutory elements can be demonstrated without proof of any fact or element in addition to those which must be proved for the

unreasonable risk that intercourse or contact may occur between the child and the other person or facilitates the intercourse or contact that does occur between the child and the other person.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Blockburger v. United States, 284 U.S. 299 (1932).

greater offense. *Blockburger v. U.S.*, 284 U.S. 299, 304 (1932). In Ms. Steinhardt's case, the elements of the two proscribed statutes are different, and thus her offenses are not identical in law under the *Blockburger* test.<sup>4</sup>

This would normally end the first-prong of the inquiry, but given the statutory provision of Wis. Stat. § 939.66(2p),

Wis. JI-Criminal 2106, 1-2 (2009).

The crime of first degree sexual assault of a child, contact, as party to a crime, has two elements, summarized as follows:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The crime of sexual assault of a child, failure to act, has seven elements, summarized as follows:

<sup>1.</sup> The defendant was a person responsible for the child's welfare.

<sup>2.</sup> The child was under 16 at the time of the alleged offense.

**<sup>3.</sup>** An individual intended to have, was having, or had sexual intercourse or contact with the child.

**<sup>4.</sup>** The defendant knew that the individual either intended to have, was having, or had sexual intercourse or contact with the child.

**<sup>5.</sup>** The defendant was physically and emotionally capable of taking action which would have prevented the sexual intercourse or contact from taking place or being repeated.

**<sup>6.</sup>** The defendant failed to take action that would have prevented the sexual intercourse or contact from occurring or being repeated.

<sup>7.</sup> The defendant's alleged failure to act either exposed the child to an unreasonable risk that sexual intercourse or contact may occur or facilitated the sexual intercourse or contact that did occur between the child and the person.

**<sup>1.</sup>** The defendant, as party to a crime, had sexual contact with a child.

**<sup>2.</sup>** The child was under the age of 13 years at the time of the alleged sexual contact.

Wis. JI-Criminal 2102E, (2009).

additional analysis is necessary. In its response in opposition to Ms. Steinhardt's petition for review, the State acknowledges that the two offenses charged in Counts 1 and 2 are identical in law under Wis. Stat. § 939.66(2p). (App. 165). Because the legislature has specifically articulated that one cannot be convicted of both the lesser and more serious violation of Wis. Stat. § 948.02 for the same conduct and because failure to act is a Class F felony while sexual assault of a child under thirteen, contact, is a Class B felony, failure to act is a lesser-included offense of sexual assault of a child by statutory rule. Therefore, as the State acknowledges, under Wis. Stat. § 939.66(2p), the offenses are identical in law in the context of the double jeopardy analysis. The next question is then whether the offenses are also identical in fact.

b. Ms. Steinhardt committed a single act and therefore, Counts 1 and 2 are identical in fact.

The question of whether the charges in the present case are identical in fact turns on the nature of the allegations and factual basis supporting the two charged offenses. The allegations at issue surround a single incident that occurred on April 1, 2013. Ms. Steinhardt's actions in assisting Walter in the sexual assault were identical to her actions in failing to protect F.G. from the sexual assault – she sat on the bed and did nothing to intervene while Walter sexually assaulted F.G. Wisconsin courts have addressed double jeopardy questions related to multiple counts arising from one stream of acts in many different contexts, including in both failure to act and sexual assault cases.

i. Multiplicity in failure to act cases

In *Carol M.D.*, the defendant was charged with nine counts of failure to act to prevent the sexual assault of a child, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 948.02(3). Each count related to a separate occasion in which she left her son with her boyfriend, whom her son had previously told her had been sexually assaulting him. *Carol M.D.*, 198 Wis. 2d 162, 167-168, 542 N.W.2d 476 (Ct. App. 1995). The date of violation for each count was at minimum, several weeks apart. *Id.* at 170. Carol M.D. claimed that the trial court had erred in denying her motion to dismiss eight of the nine counts she alleged were multiplicitous. *Id.* at 168. While she was ultimately unsuccessful in her appeal as the court affirmed her convictions, concluding the charges were not multiplicitous, the analysis engaged in by the court provides important insight in the instant case.

In its discussion of the facts of the case, the court of appeals started by concluding that the nine counts of failure to act were clearly identical in law, as they were all charged under the same statutory offense. The court turned to the next step in the analysis, stating, "Offenses are different in fact if they are either significantly different in nature or separated in time." *Carol M.D.*, 198 Wis. 2d at 170, (citing *State v. Eisch*, 96 Wis.2d 25, 31, 291 N.W.2d 800, 803 (1980)).

In addressing the difference in time between the dates, Carol M.D. had argued that the time span between the incidents was irrelevant because she only formed the *mens rea* of the failure to act one time, as she was only told once by her son of the prior sexual assaults, not each time that she subsequently left him alone with his perpetrator. *Id.*, 198 Wis. 2d at 171. She claimed that multiple counts under the

same statute may only be charged as different offenses when the defendant has formed a new *mens rea* for each individual crime. *Id.* (citing *State v. Grayson*, 172 Wis. 2d 156, 165, 493 N.W.2d 23, 28 (1992)).

The court agreed with Carol M.D.'s premise, "that the State must prove the formation of a separate mens rea for each crime charged for the charges to be different in nature." *Id.* When applying that standard to the facts of her particular case, however, the court concluded that the defendant had formed new and distinct mens rea each time she left her child alone with her boyfriend. Each act was separated substantially in time and she would have had to make a clear and distinct new decision to leave her son. The court of appeal continued, stating that the *mens rea* is not linked only to the knowledge of the assault, but the crime of failure to act involves "the existence of that knowledge accompanied by circumstance of a failure to act that exposes the victim again." *Id.* The court's reliance on the substantial passage of time between the incidents in its mens rea analysis is of particular relevance to this case, where there was no passage in time between incidents and F.G. was exposed to only one period of assault by Walter.

# ii. Multiplicity in sexual assault cases

This Court should also look to the body of case law involving claims of double jeopardy made by actual perpetrators in sexual assault cases. Where there is insufficient evidence that the defendant engaged in separate volitional acts, Wisconsin courts have held that multiple counts are multiplicitous. For example, in *State v. Hirsch*, 140 Wis. 2d 468, 474, 410 N.W.2d 638 (Ct. App. 1987), the court of appeals found that sexual assault charges were

multiplications when the conduct spanned "no more than a few minutes" and involved the defendant moving his hand from the victim's vagina to her anus and back again. The court in *Hirsch* noted that, based on the allegations in the complaint, which did not allege the precise length of time of the assault, there was no reason to believe there was any significant lapse in time between the acts. *Hirsch*, 140 Wis. 2d at 475.

Similarly in *State v. Church*<sup>5</sup>, 223 Wis. 2d 641, 645-46, 589 N.W.2d 638 (Ct. App. 1998), the defendant was charged with two counts of child enticement under Wis. Stat. § 948.07, based on Church's intent to cause a child to expose a sex organ and on his intent to give a controlled substance to a child. The court of appeals held that despite the fact that Church simultaneously intended two subsequent wrongful acts, the offenses were not related to different and new volitional acts. The court of appeals concluded the charges were identical in fact and therefore multiplicitous. *Church*, 223 Wis. 2d at 658-59.

In contrast, Wisconsin courts have also held that a continuing course of conduct in a sexual assault case can be separated into multiple counts without violating the double jeopardy doctrine. Courts have permitted multiple charges when the factual scenario alleged in the complaint details behaviors that are clearly distinct volitional acts, requiring a decision to perpetrate each separate crime or sexual act. *See State v. Eisch*, 96 Wis. 2d 26, 291 N.W.2d 800 (1980) (the court upheld the convictions when the defendant was convicted of four counts of second-degree sexual assault, one

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> State v. Church has a complicated procedural history, but the applicable holding regarding multiplicity is still good law. See State v. Church, 2003 WI 74,  $\P$  5-16, 262 Wis. 2d 678, 665 N.W.2d 141.

for each executed sexual act, stemming from an incident that spanned two-and-a-half hours).

iii. Ms. Steinhardt's conduct constitutes one singular act.

A reading of the criminal complaint establishes that Ms. Steinhardt's conduct as charged constituted one continuous act, and did not represent separate volitional acts. The allegations contained in the complaint are simply stated and straight-forward. (1). There was no trial, no preliminary hearing and no testimony taken in any motion hearing in this matter. The only description of the conduct alleged by the State that was presented at the time of Ms. Steinhardt's plea was set forth in the criminal complaint. (1) (App. 175-176). There was no oral supplement to the record by either party. The probable cause section of the complaint is comprised of a total of six sentences, summarized below:

#### On April 1, 2013:

- Ms. Steinhardt knew that Walter was interested in having sexual intercourse with F.G. and he had asked Ms. Steinhardt to facilitate the act that evening.
- 2. Ms. Steinhardt brought F.G. from one room in the home into the bedroom where Walter was lying on the bed, under the covers; Ms. Steinhardt sat on the bed.
- 3. In Ms. Steinhardt's presence and as she was seated on the bed, Walter told F.G. to take her clothes off.
- 4. Walter engaged in digital penetration with F.G. while Ms. Steinhardt remained on the bed.

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