No. 2015AP993

RECEIVED

In The Supreme Court of Misconsin

STATE OF WISCONSIN, PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT,

v.

HEATHER L. STEINHARDT, DEFENDANT-APPELLANT-PETITIONER.

On Appeal from the Ozaukee County Circuit Court, The Honorable Sandy A. Williams, Presiding, Case No. 13-CF-136

RESPONSE BRIEF OF THE STATE OF WISCONSIN

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General

MISHA TSEYTLIN Solicitor General

KEVIN M. LEROY Deputy Solicitor General *Counsel of Record*

Wisconsin Department of Justice 17 West Main Street P.O. Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 *leroykm@doj.state.wi.us* (608) 267-2221

Attorneys for the State of Wisconsin

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

b. Legislative History And Context Of The Statute. The legislative history supports the conclusion that the Legislature intended to permit multiple punishments for violations of Section 948.02(3) and Section 948.02(1)(e) when those punishments are premised on different misconduct. The Legislature created both Section 948.02(3) and Section 948.02(1)(e) with 1987 Wis. Act 332, § 55. See Ziegler, 342 Wis. 2d 256, ¶ 76. The Legislature divided the sexualassault statute, Section 948.02(1), into the subsections years later, with 2005 Wis. Act 430, §§ 3–4, 2005 Wis. Act 437, § 1, and 2007 Wis. Act 80, § 12. The failure-to-act statute has been largely unchanged since its creation. Compare Wis. Stat. § 948.02(3) *with* 1987 Wis. Act 332, § 55. It was not until 2005 that the Legislature enacted Section 939.66(2p), which makes failure-to-act a lesser-included offense of sexual assault. 2005 Wis. Act 430, § 2. And while the Legislature chose to make these crimes identical in law 18 years after they were created, it refrained from prohibiting multiple punishments for these crimes when the punishments are based on different misconduct.

c. Nature Of The Proscribed Conduct. With Section 948.02(3), the Legislature proscribed failing to protect a child from sexual assault; with Section 948.02(1)(e)-coupled the with party-to-a-crime statute—the Legislature proscribed assisting another in *committing* sexual assault. The Legislature thus proscribed harmful conduct that is different in making multiple nature. punishments appropriate. Ziegler, 342 Wis. 2d 256, ¶ 77 ("Each act of sexual contact and sexual intercourse, while proscribed by the same statute and perpetrated against the same victim on the same evening, resulted in a new and different humiliation and danger on the part of a child."); Sauceda, 168 Wis. 2d at 499–501; *Eisch*, 96 Wis. 2d at 35–36.

d. Appropriateness of Multiple Punishments. Steinhardt pleaded no contest to offenses that proscribe different types of acts that cause harm to a child. Section 948.02(3) proscribes a parent knowingly failing to protect her child from sexual assault, while Section 948.02(1)(e), coupled with Section 939.05, proscribes assisting another in sexually assaulting a child. As this Court said in *Ziegler*, "[e]ach act . . . while . . . perpetrated against the same victim on the same evening, resulted in a new and different humiliation and danger on the part of a child. Indeed, it is hard to imagine a series of acts that is more appropriately subject to cumulative punishments." 342 Wis. 2d 256, ¶ 77.

D. The counterarguments Steinhardt makes in her Opening Brief are unpersuasive.

First, with respect to the first prong of *Ziegler*'s multiplicity test, Steinhardt repeatedly claims that the only fact supporting her two convictions at issue in this appeal is her sitting on the bed while Walter sexually assaulted F.G. three times. *See* Opening Br. 9, 11, 14–15. Since the two charges are solely based on this single fact, so her argument goes, the charges must violate double jeopardy. Opening Br. 15. But, as is plainly stated in the criminal complaint, Steinhardt sat on the bed and watched Walter repeatedly sexually assault F.G. only *after* she brought F.G. to Walter. App. 176; *supra* pp. 16–18. It is the bringing of F.G. to Walter that supports the sexual-assault count; the sitting on the bed supports the failure-to-act count. *Supra* pp. 16–18.

Steinhardt attempts to foreclose the State from relying on the fact of her bringing F.G. to Walter to support the sexual-assault count by arguing that the State already used this fact to support her (unchallenged) third count of child enticement. *See* Opening Br. 14 ("Because Count 3 specifically addresses Ms. Steinhardt's conduct in bringing

F.G. to the bedroom, the other two counts must account for separate behavior."); App. 177. But Steinhardt has not challenged her third count as violating double jeopardy here—nor could she, since the third count is not identical in law with either of her other two counts, *compare* Wis. Stat. § 948.07(1) (elements of child enticement), with Wis. Stat. § 948.02(3) (elements of failure to act), and Wis. Stat. § 948.02(1)(e) (elements of sexual assault). Thus, the State's use of a fact common with the third count to support the sexual-assault count is constitutionally irrelevant to the arguments in this case. Importantly, Steinhardt has admitted that her bringing F.G. to Walter is different in nature than her sitting on the bed and watching the sexual assaults. Opening Br. 14 ("Ms. Steinhardt's role in the assault [as described in the complaint] can only logically be divided into two parts": "[f]irst, Ms. Steinhardt walked F.G. into the bedroom to Walter" and second, "Ms. Steinhardt sat on the bed and remained [there] while Walter sexually assaulted F.G."). This admission is fatal: since these facts are "logically" divisible, they support the failure-to-act and sexual-assault charges without violating double jeopardy.

At bottom, Steinhardt's objection is that "at no time ... was there a representation made by the State alleging any division of the conduct as it applied to Counts 1 and 2." Opening Br. 14. Yet Steinhardt relieved the State of this obligation by voluntarily pleading no contest to counts one and two as charged in the complaint. *Kelty*, 294 Wis. 2d 62,

¶ 2 (A valid plea "mean[s] that the defendant gives up the right to a *fact-finding* hearing on the propriety of multiple charges."); R.66:10 (entering of pleas). Her no-contest pleas to the counts alleged in the complaint operate as admissions that the facts in the complaint were both true and sufficient to convict on these counts. R.66:10; *see Menna v. New York*, 423 U.S. 61, 62 n.2 (1975) (per curiam) ("[A] counseled plea of guilty is an admission of factual guilt so reliable that, where voluntary and intelligent, it quite validly removes the issue of factual guilt from the case."). Accordingly, the State's only obligation now is to demonstrate that the record at the time of the plea can be construed in a manner that does not violate double jeopardy. *See Kelty*, 294 Wis. 2d 62, ¶¶ 26–27, 34. The State has done that here. *Supra* pp. 13–22.

The caselaw Steinhardt cites is likewise unhelpful to her here. In *State v. Carol M.D.* (Opening Br. 10–11, 15), the court of appeals held that the defendant's nine counts of failure to act, all in violation of Section 948.02(3), did not violate double jeopardy so long as a distinct mens rea supported each count. 198 Wis. 2d 162, 171–73, 542 N.W.2d 476 (Ct. App. 1995). Steinhardt claims that, unlike in *Carol M.D.*, "the criminal complaint [here] fails to show that [she] formed a new mens rea for both" counts "while she sat on the bed during Walter's sexual assault of F.G." Opening Br. 15. As noted directly above, Steinhardt ignores the other critical act mentioned in the complaint: her bringing F.G. through the door to Walter. When this act is considered along with Steinhardt sitting on the bed, it is clear that a separate mens rea supports each count, consistent with *Carol M.D.*

Steinhardt next relies on *State v. Hirsch* (Opening Br. 11-12), where the court of appeals held that the Double Jeopardy Clause was violated when the State charged the defendant with three counts of sexual assault for touching a five-year-old's vaginal area, her anal area, and then her vaginal area again. 140 Wis. 2d 468, 474, 410 N.W.2d 638 (Ct. App. 1987). The court considered the time gap between the defendant's acts negligible, and the assaults were "extremely similar in nature," thus the charges violated double-jeopardy's protection against multiplicity. Id. at 474– 75. While Steinhardt claims that her "actions were ... like the behavior in *Hirsch*," Opening Br. 15, she fails to confront the fact that her bringing F.G. to Walter and her sitting on the bed while Walter sexually assaulted F.G. are different in nature, unlike the acts in *Hirsch*. See supra pp. 18, 21. And again, while the complaint does not mention the length of time between her acts, silence here weighs in favor of upholding the convictions. See supra pp. 18–19.

Finally, Steinhardt cites *State v. Church* (Opening Br. 12, 15), in which the court of appeals considered a defendant charged with two counts of child enticement under Section 948.07. 223 Wis. 2d 641, 645, 589 N.W.2d 638 (Ct. App. 1998). One of the defendant's counts was for "enticement with intent to cause a child to expose a sex organ," and the

other was for "enticement with intent to give a controlled substance to a child." *Id.* at 646. Both charges were based on the defendant enticing the same minor into one hotel room on one evening while intending simultaneously to have the minor "expose a sex organ" and take "a controlled substance." Id. at 646–47. The court of appeals held that the two charges were multiplicitous because "[t]he facts on which [the defendant's] convictions were based were not at all separated in time: both convictions were based on [the defendant's] intentions at the instant he" enticed the minor into his hotel room. Id. at 657. In other words, the only criminal act was the defendant-with two intentionsenticing the minor to enter the hotel room on one occasion. Id. at 657, 665. Church is no help to Steinhardt's case here because—as argued extensively above, *supra* pp. 16–18—she committed two acts: she brought F.G. to Walter and then she sat on the bed and watched Walter sexually assault F.G. three times. App. 176.

Second, with respect to the second prong of Ziegler's multiplicity test, Steinhardt's arguments fail to meet her "burden of demonstrating that the offenses are [] multiplicitous [despite being different in law or fact,] on grounds that the legislature did not intend to authorize cumulative punishments." Ziegler, 342 Wis. 2d 256, ¶ 62. Steinhardt's brief focuses solely on Ziegler's statutory-language factor, Opening Br. 16–17, but her argument is wholly dependent on her winning under the first prong of

Ziegler: she has conceded that the Legislature did intend multiple punishments under Section 948.02(3) and Section 948.02(1)(e) when the acts supporting the punishments are different in fact. See Opening Br. 17. As shown above, the acts supporting Steinhardt's two convictions are different in fact, meaning the Legislature did not intend to prohibit multiple punishments here. Again, it is Steinhardt who bears the burden of persuasion under prong two; her unconvincing argument on the statutory-language factor, coupled with her failure to develop arguments under the remaining three Ziegler factors, means this Court must resolve prong two in the State's favor. See Ziegler, 342 Wis. 2d 256, ¶ 74 ("In his briefing, [the defendant] makes no effort to demonstrate that cumulative punishments ... are contrary to legislative intent.").

Finally, Steinhardt misunderstands the guilty-pleawaiver rule, Opening Br. 17–24, which she describes as follows: "[i]f this Court agrees that [her] double jeopardy rights were violated ..., it must *then* consider whether she waived her right to assert her claim by [pleading no contest]." Opening Br. 17 (emphasis added). As this Court has explained, the rule is that a plea waives a doublejeopardy claim *unless* the record "reveals the court had no power to enter the conviction" without violating double jeopardy. *Kelty*, 294 Wis. 2d 62, ¶¶ 26–27, 34. If the record does not conclusively reveal a double-jeopardy violation, *then* Steinhardt's claim is waived.

Steinhardt claims that the court of appeals erred by "look[ing] outside of the record to determine whether additional facts that may be used to counter a double jeopardy claim are available." Opening Br. 21. She bases this argument on the court of appeals stating that "[t]he complaint is silent, for example, as to how much time passed during and between [the] events." App. 104, ¶ 8. This again is a misunderstanding of the guilty-plea-waiver rule. The court of appeals referenced the *absence* of a time frame in the complaint because the amount of time between criminal acts is relevant to determining whether charges violate See Ziegler, 342 Wis. 2d 256, ¶ 72–73. double jeopardy. Since the timing of Steinhardt's acts was absent in the record at the time of her plea, the court of appeals correctly concluded that Steinhardt was unable to prove that the record "reveals the [circuit] court had no power to enter the conviction[s]" without violating double jeopardy. Kelty, 294 Wis. 2d 62, \P 26–27, 34. Thus the court's use of time did not "counter" Steinhardt's otherwise valid "double jeopardy claim," but rather showed that no valid claim could be made. Opening Br. 21 (emphasis added).

Similarly misplaced is Steinhardt's argument that the State is "attempting" to "supplement the record with additional evidence on appeal" by claiming, for example, that it was Steinhardt, not Walter, who ordered F.G. to take off her clothes. Opening Br. 21–22 & n.8. The State's discussion of facts uncovered after Steinhardt's pleas is simply a way of demonstrating how the guilty-plea-waiver rule actually limits the scope of review here and why the rule's placement of the burden on Steinhardt is justified. By pleading no contest, Steinhardt removed the State's need to exhaustively develop and present its case of conviction. Had the State been required to present such a case, it would have had the opportunity to prove, for example, that Steinhardt actually told F.G. to take off her clothes. But since Steinhardt pleaded no contest, she now bears the burden of conclusively showing a double-jeopardy violation based solely on the record at the time of her plea. *Kelty*, 294 Wis. 2d 62, ¶¶ 26–27, 34.

II. Steinhardt's Counsel Performed Effectively In Not Informing Steinhardt About A Meritless Double-Jeopardy Defense

A. The Wisconsin Constitution Article I, § 7, and the United States Constitution amendment VI, guarantee the right to the effective assistance of counsel. *Trawitzki*, 244 Wis. 2d 523, ¶ 39. This Court applies the familiar twopronged *Strickland* test to determine if the defendant has a valid ineffective-assistance claim, under which the defendant must establish both deficient performance and prejudice. *Id.* ¶¶ 39–40 (citing *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984)).

Under the deficient performance prong, an attorney performs deficiently by committing "serious errors [such] that counsel was not functioning as the counsel guaranteed" by the Constitution. Id. ¶ 40 (citations omitted). The "defendant must overcome a strong presumption that counsel acted reasonably within professional norms." Id. (citation omitted). An attorney has not rendered deficient performance by failing to address legal issues that are unhelpful to his client: such failures are not "errors" at all. *Cummings*, 199 Wis. 2d at 747 n.10 ("an attorney's failure to pursue a meritless motion does not constitute deficient performance"); accord Cargle v. Mullin, 317 F.3d 1196, 1202 (10th Cir. 2003).

Under the prejudice prong, in turn, the "defendant has the burden to prove that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." *Trawitzki*, 244 Wis. 2d 523, ¶ 40 (citations omitted). When the challenged proceeding is the entering of a plea, a defendant establishes prejudice by showing "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, [the defendant] would not have pleaded guilty and would have insisted on going to trial." *Hill v. Lockhart*, 474 U.S. 52, 59 (1985).

B. Steinhardt cannot prevail under the deficient performance prong. Steinhardt's sole alleged deficiency is her counsel's "fail[ure] to advise her that Counts 1 and 2 violated [] double jeopardy." Opening Br. 27. However, as shown extensively above, charging the failure-to-act and sexual-assault counts simply did not violate double jeopardy on the facts of this case. *Supra* pp. 13–22. It was not "error[]"—"serious" or otherwise—for Steinhardt's counsel to not address this issue. Trawitzki, 244 Wis. 2d 523, ¶ 40.

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